Chair for Computer Science 10 (Media Computing and Human-Computer Interaction)



# *Tilt-Watch: Inclination-Based Smartwatch Input in Relation to the Forearm*

Master's Thesis submitted to the Media Computing Group Prof. Dr. Jan Borchers Computer Science Department RWTH Aachen University

by Georg Röhl

Thesis advisor: Prof. Dr. Jan Borchers

Second examiner: Prof. Dr. Michael Rohs

Registration date: 20.07.2020 Submission date: 21.01.2021



## **Eidesstattliche Versicherung** Statutory Declaration in Lieu of an Oath

Röhl, Georg

320472

Name, Vorname/Last Name, First Name

Matrikelnummer (freiwillige Angabe) Matriculation No. (optional)

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides Statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit/Bachelorarbeit/ Masterarbeit\* mit dem Titel

I hereby declare in lieu of an oath that I have completed the present paper/Bachelor thesis/Master thesis\* entitled

### Tilt-Watch: Inclination-Based Input in Relation to the Forearm

selbstständig und ohne unzulässige fremde Hilfe (insbes. akademisches Ghostwriting) erbracht habe. Ich habe keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt. Für den Fall, dass die Arbeit zusätzlich auf einem Datenträger eingereicht wird, erkläre ich, dass die schriftliche und die elektronische Form vollständig übereinstimmen. Die Arbeit hat in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form noch keiner Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegen.

independently and without illegitimate assistance from third parties (such as academic ghostwriters). I have used no other than the specified sources and aids. In case that the thesis is additionally submitted in an electronic format, I declare that the written and electronic versions are fully identical. The thesis has not been submitted to any examination body in this, or similar, form.

Aachen, January 18, 2021

Ort, Datum/City, Date

Unterschrift/Signature

\*Nichtzutreffendes bitte streichen

\*Please delete as appropriate

Belehrung:

**Official Notification:** 

#### § 156 StGB: Falsche Versicherung an Eides Statt

Wer vor einer zur Abnahme einer Versicherung an Eides Statt zuständigen Behörde eine solche Versicherung falsch abgibt oder unter Berufung auf eine solche Versicherung falsch aussagt, wird mit Freiheitsstrafe bis zu drei Jahren oder mit Geldstrafe bestraft.

Para. 156 StGB (German Criminal Code): False Statutory Declarations

Whoever before a public authority competent to administer statutory declarations falsely makes such a declaration or falsely testifies while referring to such a declaration shall be liable to imprisonment not exceeding three years or a fine.

#### § 161 StGB: Fahrlässiger Falscheid; fahrlässige falsche Versicherung an Eides Statt

(1) Wenn eine der in den §§ 154 bis 156 bezeichneten Handlungen aus Fahrlässigkeit begangen worden ist, so tritt Freiheitsstrafe bis zu einem Jahr oder Geldstrafe ein.

(2) Straflosigkeit tritt ein, wenn der Täter die falsche Angabe rechtzeitig berichtigt. Die Vorschriften des § 158 Abs. 2 und 3 gelten entsprechend.

Para. 161 StGB (German Criminal Code): False Statutory Declarations Due to Negligence

(1) If a person commits one of the offences listed in sections 154 through 156 negligently the penalty shall be imprisonment not exceeding one year or a fine.

(2) The offender shall be exempt from liability if he or she corrects their false testimony in time. The provisions of section 158 (2) and (3) shall apply accordingly.

Die vorstehende Belehrung habe ich zur Kenntnis genommen: I have read and understood the above official notification:

Aachen, January 18, 2021

Ort, Datum/City, Date

Unterschrift/Signature

## Contents

	Abstract	xiii
	Überblick	xv
	Acknowledgements	xvii
	Conventions	xix
1	Introduction	1
2	Related Work	5
	2.1 Interaction Challenges of Smartwatches	5
	2.2 Smartwatch Input Techniques	7
	2.3 Inclination-Based Input	8
3	Tilt-Watch: Design And Implementation	11
	3.1 Hardware Prototyping	11
	3.1.1 Sensor Selection	12

		<b>3.1.2</b> How Tilt-Watch Measures Inclinaton.	13
		3.1.3 Tilt-Watch as Apple Watch Case	15
		3.1.4 Proof of Concept	16
		3.1.5 Sensor Arrangement	18
		3.1.6 Designing the Final Prototype	19
	3.2	Software Implementation	21
		3.2.1 Data Recording and Transfer	21
		3.2.2 Calculating Inclination with Distance	23
4	Stu	dy: Maximum Degree of Inclination	25
	4.1	Experimental Design	25
	4.2	Participants	26
	4.3	Apparatus	26
	4.4	Study Procedure	26
	4.5	Measurements	28
	4.6	Results	28
		4.6.1 Maximum Inclination	29
		4.6.2 Does Firmness Matter?	30
		<b>4.6.3</b> Ease of Tilt	30
	4.7	Discussion and Implications	31
	4.8	Limitations	33

5	Preliminary Investigation: Performance During	
	Movement	35
	5.1 Measurements	36
	5.2 Results	36
	5.3 Discussion	37
6	Tilt-Watch Interaction Design	39
	6.1 Inclination-Based Smartwatch Input	39
	6.2 Tilt-Watch Applications	40
7	Summary and Future Work	43
	7.1 Limitations of Tilt-Watch	43
	7.2 Summary and Contributions	44
	7.3 Future Work	45
	7.3.1 Improving the Prototype	45
	7.3.2 Future User Studies	46
	7.3.3 Further Interaction Possibilities	47
A	User Study Questionaire	49
В	Apple Watch Usage Guide	53
	Bibliography	55
	Index	63

# **List of Figures**

2.1	Input modalities on smartwatches	7
3.1	Proof of concept schematics and picture	17
		10
3.2	Proof of concept worn on the wrist	18
3.3	PCB design for the rangefinders	19
34	Picture of Tilt-Watch including PCB con-	
0.1	nected to the ESP32	20
		22
3.5	Bluetooth Low Energy stack on ESP32	22
3.6	Tilt-Watch raw sensor values for one inclina-	
	tion	24
4.1	Setup for userstudy	27
4.2	Average maximum inclination	29
4.3	Watchstrap firmness and average maximum	
	inclination	30
4.4	Ease of tilt for eight directions	31
6.1	Demonstrator applications	40

A.1	User study questionnaire page 1	50
A.2	User study questionnaire page 2	51
<b>B</b> .1	Apple Watch usage guide	54

## List of Tables

2.1 Related work smartwatch input space . . . . 9

5.1 Spreading per direction during movement . 36

## Abstract

Smartwatches have gotten smaller over the past years, increasing wearing comfort but at the same time posing challenges in terms of human-computer interaction. Direct input via the touchscreen suffers from limited interaction space, content occlusion and the fat finger problem. Physical input modalities on smartwatches such as buttons or rotating crowns provide effortless and intuitive input, but only have limited expressiveness. Buttons only provide binary input and rotating crowns only provide one-dimensional input.

In this thesis, we present a novel input modality that enables two-dimensional continuous input while still providing an unrestricted view of the screen. Our proposed *Tilt-Watch* measures the distance of the smartwatch towards the wrist at nine points with which an algorithm calculates the inclination in two dimensions.

Previous research on inclination-based input on mobile devices found that users could accurately control the inclination and found it intuitive. To our knowledge, the presented implementation of inclination-based smartwatch input in relation to the forearm has not been explored already. Using a physical prototype that we produced, we were able to evaluate the proposed interaction in a user study. The study found that, on average, participants tilted the smartwatch to a maximum of 25 degrees and preferred tilting over the sides, rather than the corners. Feedback in the user study was generally positive and users quickly understood the interaction. Based on the study, we give design guidelines for future prototypes. Additionally, we implemented two applications to demonstrate the new input capabilities of *Tilt-Watch*.

## Überblick

Smartwatches sind in den letzten Jahren immer kleiner geworden. Dadurch wurde zwar der Tragekomfort erhöht, gleichzeitig entstanden jedoch neue Herausforderungen in Bezug auf die Mensch-Computer-Interaktion. Die direkte Eingabe über den Touchscreen leidet unter dem kleinen Interaktionsraum, der Verdeckung des Inhaltes und dem *Fat-Finger-Fehler*. Physische Eingabemöglichkeiten an Smartwatches wie Tasten oder Kronen bieten eine einfache und intuitive Eingabe, haben aber nur eine begrenzte Ausdrucksstärke: Tasten ermöglichen nur binäre und Kronen nur eindimensionale Eingabe.

In dieser Arbeit stellen wir eine neue Eingabemodalität vor, die eine zweidimensionale, kontinuierliche Eingabe ermöglicht und dabei gleichzeitig eine uneingeschränkte Sicht auf den Bildschirm bietet. Unsere *Tilt-Watch* misst an neun Punkten den Abstand der Smartwatch zum Handgelenk und berechnet daraus die Neigung in zwei Dimensionen.

Frühere Forschung zur neigungsbasierten Eingabe auf mobilen Geräten ergab, dass die Benutzer die Neigung genau steuern konnten und sie als intuitiv empfanden. Unseres Wissens wurde die vorgestellte Implementierung der neigungsbasierten Smartwatch-Eingabe in Relation zum Unterarm bisher noch nicht untersucht. Anhand eines von uns hergestellten physischen Prototyps konnten wir die vorgestellte Interaktion in einer Nutzerstudie evaluieren. Die Studie ergab, dass die Teilnehmer die Smartwatch im Durchschnitt um maximal 25 Grad neigten und die Neigung zu den Seiten der Neigung über die Ecken bevorzugten. Das Feedback zu der neuen Eingabemodalität war generell positiv und die Benutzer haben die Interaktion schnell verstanden. Basierend auf der Studie geben wir Gestaltungsrichtlinien für zukünftige Prototypen vor. Außerdem implementierten wir zwei beispielhaften Anwendungen, mit denen wir die neuen technischen Möglichkeiten der *Tilt-Watch* demonstrieren.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks to Oliver Nowak, my supervisor, for his valuable feedback and allowing me to work on a topic I loved. I was always excited for the next meeting to get his input on my work.

Special thanks to Prof. Dr. Michael Rohs and Maximilian Schrapel from the HCI Group of Leibniz University Hannover. They provided valuable feedback and ideas.

Thanks to Prof. Dr. Jan Borchers and also Prof. Dr. Michael Rohs for examining this thesis.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for the support during my time on the thesis.

## Conventions

Throughout this thesis we use the following conventions.

DEFINITIONS:

Definitions of technical terms or short excursus are set off in coloured boxes.

Definition: *Definitions* 

Source code and implementation symbols are written in typewriter-style text.

myClass

The whole thesis is written in American English. The first person is written in the plural form. Unidentified third persons are described in female form.

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

A smartwatch is a wrist-mounted wearable computing device that provides capabilities akin to a smartphone. Smartwatches are mainly used for quick information checks and allow the user to decide whether to switch to the smartphone for more details [Chun et al., 2018]. In addition to its technical utility, most people perceive smartwatches as both technology and fashion-like [Chuah et al., 2016]. An indicator for the popularity of smartwatches is presented by Strategy Analytics<sup>1</sup>, who compiled sale estimates and found that Apple sold more watches in 2019 than the entire Swiss watch industry combined.

Smartwatches have gotten smaller over the past years [Ni and Baudisch, 2009], increasing wearing comfort but at the same time posing challenges in terms of human-computer interaction: Direct touch input is intuitive and easy to use, but the interaction space is limited and the finger occludes a big portion of the small screen. Additionally, the interaction should be as efficient as possible to avoid the user having to hold up the watch longer than absolutely necessary. To expand the interaction space of smartwatches beyond touchbased interactions, current consumer devices often provide physical input modalities like buttons or rotating knobs on Smartwatches are popular both in technology and fashion

Current smartwatch interaction has drawbacks

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://news.strategyanalytics.com/press-releases/ press-release-details/2020/Strategy-Analytics-Apple-Watch-Outsells-the-Entire-Swiss-Watch-Industry-in-2019 (Accessed: January 18, 2021)

the frame of the device. Furthermore, smartwatches are capable of offering voice input. However, physical input modalities have limited interaction expressiveness as they only provide binary input (e.g. button pressed or button not pressed) or one-dimensional input (e.g. crown turned clockwise for 1 second). Voice input on the other hand, can be expressive and efficient, but is not socially appropriate in many situations [Starner, 2002].

In addition to the described interaction techniques, researchers have investigated alternatives to expand the input expressivity of smartwatches. Prototypes were built that utilize the physical displacement of parts of the watch or the whole watch on the arm as an input technique. Researchers complement existing inputs with omnidirectional panning, rotating as well as tilting of the display in relation to the body of the smartwatch [Xiao et al., 2014]. Displacing the whole smartwatch in relation to the arm was also investigated [Yeo et al., 2016]. For this interaction, the researchers use the integrated sensors of an existing smartwatch to detect omnidirectional panning and bi-directional twisting of the watch body. Nevertheless, the prototype only registers input when touching the screen and consequently some content will be occluded.

Apart from displacement, inclination-based input on smartwatches was investigated to implement a spacesaving keyboard [Götzelmann and Vázquez, 2015]. Here, the metaphor of gravity is used to select a letter by tilting the wrist and raising or lowering the elbow. This movement changes the inclination of the smartwatch. A user, then, has to tap on the screen to enter the currently selected letter.

When already using both hands for the interaction, we imagined an input technique where one uses the second hand to manipulate the inclination of the watch, rather than moving the arm. In this work we present a novel input modality aimed to enable two-dimensional continuous input while still providing unrestricted visibility of the screen: Our proposed Tilt-Watch translates the inclination of the smartwatch in relation to the forearm to a continuous value input.

Displacement of smartwatch is used as input

Inclination of smartwatch is used as input

Tilt-Watch enables inclination-based input in relation to the forearm We built a prototype that uses nine photo-reflective rangefinders to measure the distance from the sensors on the back of the watch to the wrist, calculating the inclination of the watch. These sensors are built into a 3D printed case, that also encapsulates an Apple Watch to enable visual, auditory and haptic feedback. One of these rangefinders only measures  $3 \times 4$  mm and are inexpensive, which allows to realize an array inside Tilt-Watch. We measure the distance toward the arm, instead of using the gyroscope to detect inclination in our prototype, leading to a more robust system against external movements like the slight up and down movements of the arm when walking.

We also conducted an initial user study to examine limitations like the maximum degree of comfortable inclination. Furtheremore, we discuss our insights from these studies, our plan for future improvements and future evaluations of our Tilt-Watch prototype. Also, we demonstrate the capabilities with two example applications built around the proposed interaction technique. In the first application, the inclination of the smartwatch is used as a two-dimensional remote control that can be used eyes-free. The second application demonstrates direct manipulation of onscreen content by implementing a marble balancing game.

This work is structured as follows: In Chapter 2 an overview on user input on smartwatches is given and linked to the proposed inclination-based input. The design process of Tilt-Watch is presented in Chapter 3. After that, Chapter 4 presents an investigating into the maximum degree of inclination that was explored in a user study. Chapter 5 briefly presents a preliminary investigation into the performance of Tilt-Watch during movement. Chapter 6 explains the interaction design of Tilt-Watch in detail. Here, demonstrator applications are presented. Finally, in Chapter 7 we conclude the thesis and present limitations. We close the chapter with a discussion on what work could be done in the future.

Inexpensive photoelectric sensors are used to compute the inclination

We investigated limitations and built demonstrator applications

## Chapter 2

## **Related Work**

In the following chapter we present the existing literature on smartwatch input. In the first section, we describe the unique interaction challenges of smartwatches. After this, a general overview is given of how researchers have been trying to solve these and come up with new, expressive input modalities. The last section focuses on research that specifically uses the inclination of the device as input.

### 2.1 Interaction Challenges of Smartwatches

Regarding output, available smartwatches already implement visual feedback via the screen, auditory feedback via loudspeakers as well as haptic feedback via vibration motors or linear actuators. However, looking at user input on smartwatches, the small form factor presents challenges in terms of human-computer interaction: Occlusion, *the fat finger problem* and limited expressiveness.

When operating a touchscreen, there will inevitably be occlusion. This is due to a direct manipulation of the onscreen content using your fingers, as opposed to a small, indirect target device like a mouse pointer. On smartwatches, the effect is intensified because screen diagonals often mea-

Occlusion is inevitable when operating a touchscreen sure less than 5 cm [Baudisch and Chu, 2009]. Thus, a big portion of the screen is occluded when selecting a target which is not close to the edges of the screen.

Another problem, which is directly connected to occlusion, is the *fat finger problem*, first explained by Siek et al. [2005]. During a button press task on touchscreen PDA devices, participants worried about pushing multiple targets at the same time because of the small target size in comparison to the size of the tip of the finger. Apart from occlusion, the *the fat finger problem* refers to a decrease in selection accuracy when the target is smaller than the fingertip. The problem can be illustrated best with the example of text input via an onscreen keyboard: On the diminutive display of a smartwatch, one has to estimate where exactly to press for a letter because the finger occludes multiple letters at a time and visual feedback is available only after selecting it.

Although high-resolution display technology, loudspeakers and sophisticated haptic engines allow for expressive output, input techniques are still limited in expressiveness. Despite the fact that touchscreens provide two-dimensional input, they suffer from problems as stated above. Because of this, current consumer devices often provide physical input modalities like buttons, rotating crowns or rotating bezels on the frame of the watch. Unfortunately, these input modalities have limited expressiveness: Buttons only have binary input (i.e. button pressed, button not pressed) and rotating crowns or bezels only have one-dimensional input (e.g. turned clockwise for 20 degree). In addition to that, physical input modalities on smartwatches are almost always reserved for system-wide functionalities (e.g. switching between applications, activating contactless payments) and thereby cannot be used for more general purpose input inside applications.

Another interaction challenge for smartwatches is mobility. Mobile devices can be used in various situations and are often operated while being on the move. However, when using a smartwatch on the move, one has to divide the attention between the environment and the device. Therefore, mobility restricts interaction with the smartwatch. Oulasvirta et al. [2005] investigate the cognitive resource

Fat finger problem describes the decrease in selection accuracy for small targets in touch input

> Physical input modalities have limited expressiveness



**Figure 2.1:** Diagram of input modalities of smartwatches that are proposed by related work

depletion caused by mobility. The researchers present that continuous attention to the device during movement is limited to bursts of 4 to 8 seconds. Visuri et al. [2017] present a broader analysis with more than 300 users and 800.000 screen usage events of smartwatches. Results showed that interactions have to be designed to be completed quickly or require minimal attention. Consequently, a novel interaction prosposal should not only be tested when sitting, but also during movement.

Mobility has to be considered during the design process

### 2.2 Smartwatch Input Techniques

With the aim to improve smartwatch interaction, researchers have investigated novel input techniques. The literature can be split by the mode of the input modality. There is literature on haptic input performed with the opposite side hand, mid-air gestures performed with opposite side hand, and input performed solely with the same side hand. This section gives a description on prominent input modalities for these categories. Figure 2.1 depicts an overview on smartwatch input techniques. Same side hand gestures have appeared in several forms. Most are primarily targeted at simple discrete input commands like a quick twist of the wrist away from the body [Hinckley and Song, 2011], Müller et al., 2016, Arefin Shimon et al., 2016] or the assignment of finger postures to specific actions [Rekimoto, 2001, Dementyev and Paradiso, 2014]. Additionally, there exists approaches that implement two-dimensional input by means of using the wrist as a joystick [Gong et al., 2016] or moving the watch on a plane [Katsuragawa et al.] 2016, Müller et al., 2016].

The second mode of input modalities are mid-air gestures. These are done with the opposite side hand, in proximity to the smartwatch, but without contact to it. Besides from simple air-taps or hover gestures [Withana et al., 2015]. Are-fin Shimon et al., 2016], there exists work on more expressive gestures like air-swipes [Kim et al., 2007, Arefin Shimon et al., 2016]. Kim et al. [2007] evaluated five mid-air gestures both stationary and on the go and achieved a recognition accuracy of 95.5% across all conditions. The authors note, that minimal training was needed and there was no statistically significant effect on accuracy when users were walking. This makes mid-air gestures suitable for quick, discrete input.

The third group of input modalities are interactions done with the opposite side hand like the manipulation of the touchscreen or pressing a button. There exists research on user input via the watch strap [Klamka et al.] 2020, Saviot et al., 2017, Pasquero et al., 2011] and even via the skin next to the watch [Ogata and Imai] 2015, Schrapel et al., 2020]. Furthermore, touching the rim of the watch [Oakley and Lee, 2014, Ahn et al., 2017, Malu et al., 2019], rotating the watch face [Yeo et al., 2016] and panning the watch on the wrist [Xiao et al., 2014, Yeo et al., 2016, Singh et al., 2018] were investigated.

### 2.3 Inclination-Based Input

Using the inclination as input on a mobile device was first introduced by Rekimoto [1996]. The author presented a

	continuous value input	discrete value input
Two- dimensional	Touchscreen Pan [Xiao et al., 2014] Skin [Schrapel et al., 2020] Tilt with Tilt-Watch	Rotate [Ogata et al., 2013] Skin [Ogata et al., 2013] Tilt ( <i>InclineType</i> ) [Götzelmann and Vázquez, 2015]
One- dimensional	Touch [Yeo et al., 2016] Rotate [Yeo et al., 2016]	Click [Xiao et al., 2014] Rotate [Ogata and Imai, 2015] Frame [Ahn et al., 2015] Tilt [Xiao et al., 2014]

**Table 2.1:** Smartwatch input space of presented input modalities. Tilt-Watch is the first contribution that enables tilt-based two-dimensional continuous input on smartwatches. For every input modality one example contribution is given.

prototype which used a small external screen and an inertial measurement unit (IMU) to enable inclination-based input. Users were able to control the inclination with an accuracy of only 2 degrees, provided that visual feedback was displayed. Rekimoto implemented one-dimensional menu selection tasks, a two-dimensional map browser that changed the perspective view of the map as well as a threedimensional object viewer that coupled the inclination of the display to the orientation of the object.

Oakley and O'Modhrain [2005] investigated inclinationbased input on an iPaq touchscreen pocket PC and emphasize the importance of haptic feedback for this input technique. Additionally, the authors found that for menu items, position-based mapping of the inclination was more controllable than rate-based mapping. This means, each menu item is selectable by tilting the device to the corresponding fixed angular position.

Xiao et al. [2014] presented the first research that included inclination-based input on smartwatches specifically. The authors build a smartwatch prototype using joystick sensors that sense the displacement of the display of the watch. The display could be panned, twisted and tilted on the smartwach body. While panning was implemented as twodimensional input, twist input provided one-dimensional input and lastly tilt input was only detected binary in two directions (i.e. tilted to the left, not tilted, tilted to the right). Users were able to control the inclination of a handheld device with an accuracy of 2 degrees

Haptic feedback was emphasized

First inclination-based input on smartwatches was binary Two-dimensional inclination-based input was used for keyboard entry

There has not been research on tilting the smartwatch with the opposite side hand In order to solve the *the fat finger problem* for smartwatch keyboard input, Götzelmann and Vázquez [2015] presented InclineType, an inclination-based keyboard. Here, the inclination of the watch is controlled by raising or lowering the elbow and twisting the wrist. The twodimensional inclination of the watch is used to select one of the letters distributed on the edges of the screen. While this alone would be classified as same side hand interaction, similar to the interaction presented by Gong et al. [2016], InclineType utilizes the second hand to confirm the selected letter and thereby enter it. The interaction facilitates the intuitive feeling of gravity and the authors explain that participants got familiar with almost no previous training. Regarding performance, it is noted that participants reached an average typing speed of six words per minute in average, which is on the lower end compared to other smartwatch keyboard approaches [Turner et al., 2020]. However, InclineType was specifically designed just for keyboard input. Going beyond keyboard input, the interaction reaches its limits based on physiological properties of the arm: When holding the arm in front of the body, it is only possible to twist the wrist very little towards the body. For more general two-dimensional input, this would limit the interaction range.

To the best of our knowledge, the direct manipulation of the inclination of the smartwatch with the opposite side hand has not been explored already. Table 2.1 lists different input modalities and groups them by expressiveness. One can see, that Tilt-Watch is the first contribution that enables two-dimensional continuous input via tilting.

In contrast to *InclineType*, we do not rely on moving the arm with the watch but only the watch itself is tilted. This also eliminates the disadvantage of only being able to tilt your wrist very slightly towards your body while still relying on the metaphor of gravity to make the interaction intuitive. The following chapter will explain, how we realized this inclination-based smartwatch input.

### Chapter 3

## Tilt-Watch: Design And Implementation

In the following chapter we present Tilt-Watch and describe its design process in detail. The chapter is split into two sections. In Section 3.1 we describe the exploration of different sensor types and explain why we settled for optical distance sensors (also called optical rangefinders) to detect the inclination of the watch. Then, we present different design iterations and decisions that led to the current prototype. Section 3.2 goes into detail on the software implementation of Tilt-Watch. Here we explain how the data from the optical distance sensors is used to calculate the inclination.

### 3.1 Hardware Prototyping

The following section describes the hardware implementation of Tilt-Watch. We start by going through different physical properties we explored in order to measure the inclination of the smartwatch in relation to the forearm. After that, we explain why we settled for photo-reflective rangefinders and we reason why we did not use different sensors, e.g. the IMU, to detect the inclination. We go on by providing insight in the prototyping process of Tilt-Watch and explain how the sensors are arranged and connected. Definition: intertial measurement unit INTERTIAL MEASUREMENT UNIT:

An intertial measurement unit (IMU) is a combination of multiple accelerometers and gyroscopes. Accelerometers measure linear acceleration and gyroscopes measure the rotational rate. Magnetometers that measure the magnetic field are often included, too.

### 3.1.1 Sensor Selection



Linux Watch with OLED display

We discarded using the IMU to be robust against movement

Measuring the exerted force on the watch would limit the interaction Starting with the Linux Watch<sup>1</sup> presented in 2000, IMUs were built into smartwatches. The IMU makes the smartwatch aware of its position so that it can calculate if the user is currently looking at the watch face or whether the watch is facing away from the user. Also, researchers already used the IMU in a smartwatch to sense panning, twisting and rotation around the watch face [Yeo et al., 2016].

Nevertheless, we decided against using the IMU for the proposed interaction. This is, because the smartwatch is a mobile computing device which is, in most cases, worn the whole day and often operated on the move [Oulasvirta et al., 2005]. Therefore, we wanted to build a system which is robust against movement. When walking or running, the arm is moved slightly with each step, which produces noise when using the IMU to calculate the inclination. The point is that with an IMU one would not measure the inclination in relation to the forearm but the inclination in relation to the earth.

One could also measure the force exerted on the watch, as the user presses onto it to tilt the watch face. Unfortunately this would limit the interaction. We found that in some cases users do not touch the watch itself to manipulate the inclination, but only touch the watchband to drag the watch in the desired position.

When the watch is tilted on the wrist, one part of the watch body is pressed into the arm and the part on the opposite

https://researcher.watson.ibm.com/researcher/ view\_group.php?id=5614 (Accessed: January 18, 2021)

side loses contact. Therefore, we explored measuring the force that is exerted on the arm in order to calculate the inclination of the smartwatch body. For this, we used a force sensing resistor (FSR). A FSR changes its value based on the exposed force. We built a prototype with one FSR on the bottom side of the watch and quickly discovered that detecting the exerted force comes with caveats, too. Although FSRs are cheap and can be built in a small form factor, the sensor values drift with time and would need regular recalibration. Also, one degree of inclination can have different levels of force, because one can hold the smartwatch at the same angle, while exerting less or more force onto the wrist. With this, the values are ambiguous and thus using an FSR is unsuitable for the proposed interaction.

The most direct way to sense the inclination of the watch in relation to the wrist is to measure the distance from the watch to the wrist. With a minimum of four sensors, one on each side looking down, it would be possible to calculate the horizontal and vertical inclination of the watch. Therefore, we investigated using rangefinders (sensors that measure distance to a target) in our prototype. The following section gives an overview on several rangefinders we considered for the prototype and explains our choice of LEDbased optical rangefinders for Tilt-Watch.

### 3.1.2 How Tilt-Watch Measures Inclinaton

For Tilt-Watch, we investigated rangefinders, searching for a small sensor with an update rate of at least 5 Hz (five times per second) and low current draw such that it can work on battery. An ideal sensor would be able to detect a range from 1 mm to about 5 cm to cover every possible inclination of the smartwatch.

There are several types of rangefinders, though all noncontact devices operate by interpreting a reflected signal. The distance to an object is either calculated by measuring the time between the emission of the signal and the arrival of its reflection or by measuring the reflection intensity (i.e. the intensity is lower, if the object is further away). Force sensing resistors produce ambiguous values

Sensing the distance towards the wrist is the most direct way



HC-SR04 Ultrasonic Sensor from Adafruit



VL53L0X VSCEL on PCB from Adafruit

Ranging with a VCSEL is accurate, but complex



photo-reflective rangefinder QRE1113 from ON Semiconductor

An ultrasonic sensor measures the time between sending an ultrasonic soundwave and receiving its echo, thus calculating the distance to an object. While ultrasonic sensors have very low current draw and often operate with an update rate of at least 10 Hz, most ultrasonic sensors have a minimum range of 15 cm. While there are ultrasonic sensors for closer distances like the HC-SR04 with a minimum range of 2 cm, the sensor is too big to fit in a wearable prototype and the minimum range is still to high for our use case.

The second type of sensors we investigated were optical rangefinders based on vertical-cavity surface-emitting lasers (VCSELs). A VCSEL only emits laser beams perpendicular from its top surface. To be more precise, a VCSEL produces a lower divergence angle than regular lasers and thus requires less power. Ranging the distance to an object with a VCSEL works by measuring the time it takes the beam to travel to the object and bounce back to the sensor. Thus, VCSELs operate like ultrasonic rangefinders, but the emitted signal is a light beam rather than a sound wave. VCSEL-based rangefinders are already used in most smartphones to turn off the display during a call. Additionally to the low current draw and their small size, VCSELs have fast and accurate distance ranging. Having said this, a range finding VCSEL is a complex electronic component with an integrated microcontroller and a high precision clock. This makes integrating a VCSEL more complex and especially integrating several VCSELs in one body complicates circuits even more and thus would make prototyping harder.

Researching related work, we found several papers [Ogata et al.] [2012], Ogata and Imai], [2015]] that use another type of optical rangefinders to implement novel interaction proposals. Rather than measuring the precise time a light beam takes to travel to an object and back, one can measure the amount of light that is reflected by the object. Photoreflective rangefinder include both, an infrared led and an infrared photo transistor in a footprint of 3×4 mm and detect distances from 1 to 10 mm. The infrared photo transistor converts infrared light into electrical current. Thus, if an object is closer to the sensor, more light is reflected onto the sensor and the output current is higher. Although powering an LED to measure reflected light requires more power compared to a VCSEL, photo-reflective rangefinders are inexpensive, have a small footprint and can be included in electronic circuits with little effort. Thus, we decided to use the QRE1113 from ON Semiconductor<sup>2</sup>. This photoreflective rangefinder can measure distance in a range from 1 to 5 mm. Due to the low maximum range of the sensor, we decided to use several sensors per direction to be able to detect small as well as large inclinations.

Having chosen the sensor for Tilt-Watch, the next step was to integrate it into a smartwatch body. In the following section, we describe the prototyping process of Tilt-Watch. For this, we explain why we developed Tilt-Watch as a case for the Apple Watch and give an overview about different stages of the prototyping process.

#### 3.1.3 Tilt-Watch as Apple Watch Case

We build an interactive prototype to evaluate the proposed human-computer interaction. To evaluate inclinationbased smartwatch input, we set out to build a device that includes multiple photo-reflective rangefinder on the bottom. The prototype should be able to compute the sensor input as well as provide visual and haptic feedback to the user. Additionally, it was important that the prototype should roughly have the dimensions of a regular smartwatch, because users directly interact with the device itself.

The sensors we chose are less than 2 mm tall. Because of this, we decided to built Tilt-Watch as a case for the Apple Watch. By using an existing smartwatch, we can provide rich visual feedback on the display and renowned haptic feedback via the built-in haptic engine. Unfortunately, the Apple Watch has no interface to connect the sensors directly. Thus, we decided connecting the sensors to a microcontroller with built-in Bluetooth and transmit the sensor data to the Apple Watch via Bluetooth. Photo-reflective rangefinders are inexpensive, small and easy to integrate

Prototype should provide visual and haptic feedback

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.onsemi.com/products/optoelectronics/ infrared/reflective-sensor/qre1113 (Accessed: January 18, 2021)

For the microcontroller, we decided using an ESP32 from Espressif Systems<sup>3</sup> The ESP32 has integrated Wi-Fi and Bluetooth connectivity as well as 18 analog-to-digital converter (ADC) channels, which would theoretically enable connecting up to 18 photo-reflective rangefinders. Because of its low power consumption, the microcontroller from Espressif Systems is used in many internet of things (IoT) devices and wearable electronics Bachfeld [2019].

To enable fast prototyping, we used the ESP32-DevKitC development board. In addition to the microcontroller itself, the board contains controllers for USB programming, reset and boot-mode buttons and routes every important general-purpose input/output (GPIO) port to a breadboard-friendly pinout. Because of the small size of the ESP32 itself, one could theoretically include the microcontroller (without the development board) inside Tilt-Watch to build a cable-free prototype. For this, a rechargeable battery would also have to be included inside the prototype, which would make it thicker. As mentioned at the beginning of the Section, we set out to built a prototype that is similar to a regular smartwatch, because users directly interact with the smartwatch. That is the reason we decided to only include the sensors inside the case and move the microcontroller and battery outside.

#### 3.1.4 Proof of Concept

As a proof of concept, we built the first prototype with only two sensors. A thin frame was 3D printed that allowed placing the sensors on opposing sides. The frame was then attached to the Apple Watch with adhesive tape as shown in Figure 3.1p. The two rangefinders were connected to the ESP32 on a breadboard in order to be able to try out resistors with different resistances.

The wiring diagram of the proof of concept is depicted in Figure 3.1a. As explained earlier, a photo-reflective rangefinder contains an LED and a photo-reflective transis-



Image from Espressif Systems ESP32-DevKitC with microcontroller ESP32 on the right

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://www.espressif.com/products/modules/esp32 (Accessed: January 18, 2021)


**Figure 3.1:** (a) Wiring diagram of the first proof of concept. (b) Picture of the prototype containing only two rangefinders.

tor. The  $100\Omega$  resistors limit the current of the LEDs to 1.4V. The  $10k\Omega$  resistors are pull-up resistors for the transistor as per documentation [Espressif Systems, 2020].

#### **PULL-UP RESISTOR:**

A pull-up resistor ensures that the input of a microcontroller is always in a well-defined state. Without a pullup resistor an indeterminate voltage could be read because the voltage would be influenced by electromagnetic noise. In our case, the absence of light would lead to unpredictable values when the program reads the state of a pin connected to a photo-transistor.

During early prototyping, the ESP32 was connected directly to a computer via the USB interface. This enabled us to experiment with the sensors, without implementing the Bluetooth stack for publishing sensor data. With the proof of concept, we learned important lessons about the placement of the sensors. Regarding vertical tilting (towards the top or bottom) we learned that the sensors are very far on the outer edge and thus showed high values in the resting position without user input. This is because the arm is round, and therefore the distance between the sensors and the arm becomes greater, the further away the sensors are moved away from the middle. Figure 3.2 shows the proof of concept attached to an Apple Watch worn on the wrist. In the picture, the sensors were too far on the outside, thus showed high values without input. Definition: Pull-up Resistor

Proof of concept helped us better understand the impact of sensor placement



**Figure 3.2:** Proof of concept of Tilt-Watch containing two rangefinders. Sensor is too wide from the center, thus reporting high values without user input

With this prototype, we were also able to explore tilting to the left or right side by rotating the 3D printed base below the Apple Watch for 90 degree clockwise. After that, the two sensors are on the left and right side rather than on the top and bottom side. Tilting to the sides worked well for small inclinations. Unfortunately, the sensors reached their maximum value at around 10 degree inclination. Moving the sensors closer to the center solves this somewhat, but with the possible sensing range of 1 to 5 mm it is not possible to detect small as well as big inclinations. Therefore we decided to use multiple sensors per direction, to detect greater ranges of inclination. With the lessons learned, we decided how the sensors have to be arranged to enable twodimensional tilt input with high value ranges.

#### 3.1.5 Sensor Arrangement

After building and testing the proof of concept, we continued to develop Tilt-Watch. We decided to use a total of nine sensors for the next prototype. With each LED requiring 1.6V at maximum, we were able to connect 3 LEDs in series respectively via the 5V provided by the ESP32 development board.

Regarding the sensor arrangement on the bottom of the Apple Watch, we chose to place sensors on lines from the middle of the smartwatch towards all corners. The arrangement is depicted in Figure [3.3]. Because of the nine sensors

Horizontal tilting worked well for small inclinations



**Figure 3.3:** (a) PCB design for Tilt-Watch. Traces are marked red or blue according to the side they are on. (b) Picture of double-sided PCB with sensors. Three sensors are connected in series respectively.

with four pins each, it got difficult to wire the connections by hand. The following section describes the process of producing a printed circuit board (PCB) that holds the sensors and is attached to the Apple Watch.

#### 3.1.6 Designing the Final Prototype

We designed the PCB for Tilt-Watch with KiCad<sup>1</sup>. KiCad is an open source platform for electronics design. We imported the schematic of the photo-reflective rangefinder into the schematic editor and defined how the rangefinders and the resistors are connected to each other. We decided to produce a double-sided PCB, in order to connect the high number of pins without having to use solder bridges.

To route the traces on the PCB, we relied on the open source autorouter software Freerouting<sup>5</sup>. We imported the schematics from KiCad and Freerouting automatically routed the traces on both sides of the PCB with minimal modification needed. Then, we exported the routing information as Specctra session file.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://kicad.org (Accessed: January 18, 2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://freerouting.mihosoft.eu (Accessed: Jan. 18, 2021)



**Figure 3.4:** (a) Picture of Apple Watch next to Tilt-Watch case including PCB and black box containing ESP32. (b) Bottom of Tilt-Watch with the nine rangefinders.

This Specctra session file was imported into the KiCad software paltform. Here we generated drill files for the PCB mill. The mill is a LPKF Protomat S104 that can create PCBs from copper plated sheets of fibre glass. After the mill has finished drilling on the first side, we turned over the copper plated sheet for the machine to drill the second side. Finally, the nine photo-reflective rangefinders as well as three resistors were placed on the PCB and soldered together.

The sensors were mounted on a PCB and a case was 3D printed To attach the finished PCB to the Apple Watch, we placed both together in a case, which is screwed tight from the top. Additionally, we designed a bigger PCB for the microcontroller and the pull-up resistors of the nine wsensors. These two components were then connected with a flat ribbon cable. The sensor PCB measures  $28 \times 32$  mm and fits into the 3D printed case, constructed with 0.3 mm offsets on each side. It was printed with an Ultimaker S5 Pro. Tilt-Watch was designed to be as small as possible. It still provides the feeling of operating a regular smartwatch, although it is 5 mm thicker than the Apple Watch. Figure 3.4a shows all described components: The Apple Watch next to the Tilt-Watch case including the PCB, which is connected to the ESP32 inside the black box. Figure 3.4p shows the bottom side of Tilt-Watch, where one can find nine rangefinders.

#### 3.2 Software Implementation

The following section describes the software implementation of Tilt-Watch. This is split into two parts: In the first section, we explain how the ESP32 records the sensor data and makes it available as a Bluetooth service. The second section explains how the data is used to calulate the inclination of the smartwatch.

#### 3.2.1 Data Recording and Transfer

The ESP32 integrates a total of 18 channels of 12-bit analogto-digital converter (ADC). An ADC converts an analog signal into a digital signal. As explained in Section 3.1.2 "How Tilt-Watch Measures Inclinaton", the current emitted by the rangefinders changes with the intensity of the reflected light. The ADCs of the ESP32 convert this varying current into a 12-bit digital number (0-4095), that then can be used in software. It is important to note that many of the pins of the ESP32 are assigned with several functions. Which function is currently used is determined in the program. Therefore, some of the ADC channels can only be used when the wifi driver has not started and others (GPIO0, GPIO34, GPIO35) cannot be used at all as ADCs on the ESP32-DevKitC.

As per documentation [Espressif Systems, 2020], the ESP32 ADCs can be sensitive to noise. To counter this, the programm samples each of the nine ADCs multiple times and calculates the average for every sensor. This approach is called multisampling and is common to mitigate the effect of noise. We tested out several sample numbers and found that the function readSensors, responsible for sampling the ADCs, takes 10.54 ms for one sample, but recording 40 samples only doubles the runtime (21.1 ms).

The sensor data, then, is made available as a Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE) service. Using the low level Espressif IoT Development Framework (ESP-IDF) is considered difficult because of the big amount of states and events that have to be Sensor data is recorded by 12-bit ADCs

Multisampling mitigates noise of ADCs



**Figure 3.5:** Bluetooth Low Energy (BLE) stack as implemented by the ESP32 BLE Arduino library. Tilt-Watch implements one BLE characteristic containing the values of all nine sensors.

handled [Kolban, 2020]. Therefore, we relied on the ESP32 BLE Arduino<sup>5</sup> library to make use of BLE on the ESP32. The library provides higher level classes and functions, to simplify using BLE.

The BLE stack, also depicted in Figure 3.5, is structured as follows: A BLE server exposes one or more services. A service contains one or more characteristics and each of these characteristics may have zero or more descriptors. Service, characteristic and descriptor are represented by Universally Unique Identifier (UUID). The BLE server has to actively start advertising, such that it can be located by clients. The advertisement includes the UUID of the service provided by the server. We decided to implement one characteristic that includes the values of all nine sensors combined. This is possible, by mapping the 12-bit values to 8-bit values and then putting these nine 8-bit values in series. Publishing all values in one characteristic guarantees that the values were recorded at the same time and thereby prevents sychronization errors.

All nine sensor values are advertised as one BLE characteristic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://github.com/nkolban/esp32-snippets (Accessed: January 18, 2021)

Additionally, we used the TaskScheduler library that provides a lightweight implementation of task scheduling on Arduino or Espressif microcontrollers. In our program, the library is responsible for the periodic task execution. The task, which runs every 100 ms, contains the multisampling of the sensors and the update of the BLE characteristic value. At the end of the task, connected clients are notified that the value of the characteristic has changed.

#### 3.2.2 Calculating Inclination with Distance

A device that subscribes to the BLE characteristic is notified, when the value changes. As explained in the previous section, the characteristic contains the raw-value of all nine sensors. This approach allows all the computation to be executed on the device receiving the values, thus makes the approach more flexible.

The arrangement of the sensors (see Figure 3.6a) makes the calculation straight forward. For this, we first rotate the sensor array by 45 degrees clockwise, such that the sensors lie on the axes instead of pointing towards the corners of the smartwatch. This simplifies calculating a two-dimensional point based on  $f_{rotated}$ , because each sensor only influences one dimension of the point at a time.

$$f_{rotated}(S_0, S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4, S_5, S_6, S_7) = (S_1 + S_5 - S_2 - S_6, S_0 + S_4 - S_3 - S_7) = (x, y) \quad (3.1)$$

The calculated point has to be rotated back 45 degrees counter clockwise. This is done by  $f_{corrected}$ .

$$f_{corrected}(x,y) = \left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}} - \frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}, \frac{x}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{y}{\sqrt{2}}\right) = (x',y') \quad (3.2)$$

Here, (x', y') represents both the two-dimensional direction and extent of the inclination of the smartwatch.

The center sensor  $S_8$  is only considered when Tilt-Watch is tilted strongly. If an outer sensor reports maximum value,

TaskScheduler library implements periodic task execution



 $f_{rotated} = (x, y)$ 



 $f_{corrected} = (x', y')$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://www.arduino.cc/reference/en/libraries/ taskscheduler/(Accessed: January 18, 2021)



**Figure 3.6:** (a) Sensor arrangement of Tilt-Watch. (b) Raw sensor values as well as the calculated Tilt-Watch inclination in relation to the inclination measured by the gyroscope for example inclination towards the left side

the value of  $S_8$  is substracted from the opposing outer sensor. This is because increasing values of the opposing inner and outer sensor would cancel out a increasing degree of inclination, because of the simple nature of Equation (3.1).

Figure 3.6 depicts how the values of the sensors change for one example inclination towards the left side. For this, we plotted the raw sensor values as well as the calculated Tilt-Watch inclination in relation to the inclination reported by the gyroscope. One can see that only using S1 and S3 would limit horizontal tilting to a maximum of 25 degrees, because at this point the sensors reach their maximum value of 255. The dashed line denotes the calculated inclination of Tilt-Watch and increases approximately linearly. Thus, we could simply divide the calculated Tilt-Watch value by a factor to cover the same range of values as reported by the gyroscope.

## **Chapter 4**

# **Study: Maximum Degree of Inclination**

In the previous chapter, we presented our final Tilt-Watch prototype and explained the implementation in detail. After initial experimentation with the prototype we conducted a user study to derive framework conditions for the novel interaction technique. The property we investigated in the study was the maximum degree of comfortable inclination, i.e. the range of values that users utilize for the interaction.

The following chapter presents the study design, explains in detail which tasks participants did and which information we recorded. The chapter concludes with the results of the anaylsis, along with a discussion on several things we learned from the study. Lastly, we present the limitations of the study.

#### 4.1 Experimental Design

The participant has to tilt the watch in a specific direction to the maximum degree until it can no longer be moved in that direction. The direction is specified on the display of Tilt-Watch with an arrow. The participant has to hold the maximum inclination for one second, in order for it to register. After that, the arrow disappears and a new one is displayed after Tilt-Watch has returned to the resting position. To prevent the Apple Watch from going into sleep mode, the participant has to press a button after every ten trials.

#### 4.2 Participants

We conducted the study with ten participants between the ages of 23 and 63 (mean: 34.4 years, SD: 15.24 years). Four participants were females, the other six males. Nine participants wore wristwatches on the left and one participant on the right arm. Only two participants stated that they wear smartwatches.

#### 4.3 Apparatus

We used the Tilt-Watch prototype for this study. The detailed assembly of this is explained in the previous chapter. Besides the nine photo-reflective rangefinders the prototype contains an Apple Watch Series 2 (GPS, 42 mm). The Tilt-Watch prototype without the ESP32 weighs approximately 70 grams.

The display of the Apple Watch has a resolution of  $312 \times 390$  pixels with a diagonal of 1.65 inches. Additionally, an iPhone X was used to record the Tilt-Watch data and monitor the study progress.

#### 4.4 Study Procedure

In the beginning, the participant is welcomed and Tilt-Watch is introduced by the conductor. Participants were seated in front of a table.



**Figure 4.1:** Setup for userstudy. The ESP32 inside the black box is connected to a power bank to supply power. The Apple Watch currently displays an arrow to the bottom right.

In the pre-experiment questionnaire, participants filled out demographic questions and also provided their wrist circumference (see Appendix A.1). Because of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the study was designed in a way, such that the conductor could advise it from two meters away. Because of this, participants had to measure the circumference of their wrist on their own with the supplied measuring tape. After participants put on Tilt-Watch, they noted in which hole of the bracelet the buckle was inserted. With this, we could later determine how firm the watch was worn. In addition to the consent form and questionnaire, participants were also provided with a short usage guide on how to operate the Apple Watch (see Appendix B).

For the experiment, participants placed their hands on a small cushion such that the watchband could move freely. For the study, participants had to use their second hand to tilt in the direction, to which the arrow on the display pointed. This setup is depicted in Figure 4.1. Before we started recording the inclination data, participants did a trial run of the experiment, to try out the interaction. After that, the study started and participants had to tilt Tilt-Watch for 80 times consecutively.

Participants measured their wrist circumference on their own

Participants rested their arm on a cushion to enable free movement Participants rated the ease of tilt per direction After participants completed the experiment, they were asked to fill out a post-experiment questionnaire regarding their subjective rating of the different directions (see Appendix A.2). When participants had successfully completed the questionnaire, we close the study by asking "What do you think about the interaction?" and noted valuable input.

#### 4.5 Measurements

During the study, we recorded both, data from the gyroscope and data from Tilt-Watch. The first measurement started, when the participant touched the "Start Study" button on the Apple Watch and stopped, when all 80 trials were finished. New samples were recorded approximately every 100 ms with the reception of the newest Tilt-Watch data via Bluetooth. The data was logged into a CSV file with an application on an iPhone, which was later transfered to a computer for the analysis.

In summary, we recorded 10 repetitions for each of the 8 directions with 10 participants which results in 800 total trials. Depending on how fast participants reached the dwelltime, one trial could produce 10 to 50 samples in the log. Dwell-time describes the amount of time (in our case: 1 second) that the participant has to hold Tilt-Watch at the maximum comfortable inclination degree in order for it to register the input.

In addition to that, participants rated their agreement with the statement "It felt easy to tilt the watch in that direction" for every direction on a five-point Likert scale.

#### 4.6 Results

Besides the maximum inclination, we also present an investigation on whether the firmness of the watchstrap influenced it and the ease of tilt for the different directions.

Tilt-Watch sample was recorded every 100 ms and saved into a CSV file

We recorded 10 repetitions for each of the 8 directions



**Figure 4.2:** Average maximum inclination for all eight directions measured by gyroscope and Tilt-Watch. On average, participants tilted the watch to a maximum of 25.06 degrees but the inclination differs depending on the direction.

#### 4.6.1 Maximum Inclination

The focus of the study was to investigate the maximum degree of comfortable inclination. On average, our participants tilted the watch to a maximum of 25.06 degrees (measured by gyroscope). Figure 4.2 depicts the distribution of the maximum inclination per direction. One can see that depending on the direction, participants tilted the smartwatch sometimes more and sometimes less. For every direction, the blue box represents data recorded by the gyroscope and the green box represents data recorded by Tilt-Watch. Also, the boxes in Figure 4.2 span more than 15 degrees for some directions. This means that the maximum inclination differed widely among the participants. While the average maximum inclination was between 20 and 30 degrees for most participants, one participant reached an average maximum inclination of 41 degrees.

On average, participants tilted the watch to 25 degrees



**Figure 4.3:** Watchstrap firmness (arm to strap circumference difference) and average maximum inclination per participant. Participants are ordered by watch strap firmness.

#### 4.6.2 Does Firmness Matter?

We calulated the arm to strap circumference difference per participant to investigate if the firmness of the watch strap influenced the maximum inclination. Under tension, the difference in cirmumference ranges from 3.52 cm to 4.72 cm depending on the participants. Figure 4.3 shows the watch strap firmness and the average maximum inclination per participant. Participants are ordered ascending by watch strap firmness. In our study, we could not find an effect on the average maximum inclination.

4.6.3 Ease of Tilt

We also evaluated the ease of tilt in the eight directions on a five-point Likert scale. The results for this are depicted in Figure 4.4. The radar plot shows the mean and standard deviation of the rating per direction. A lower score (and with this close range to the outer circumference of the circle) indicates more agreement with the statement, thus a higher ease of tilt. Overall, the mean ranges from 1.9 (tilt-

We could not find firmness affecting the maximum inclination



**Figure 4.4:** Ease of tilt for all eight directions (lower score = easier). Tilting to the right was rated the easiest. Participants preferred tilting over the sides rather than the corners.

ing to the right) to 2.5 (tilting to the bottom left) depending on the direction. Additionally, the standard deviations for tilting over the sides of Tilt-Watch were all lower, than the standard deviations for tilting over the corners. This shows, participants preferred tilting over the sides, rather than the corners. Individual user feedback attests this. Participants noted that "tilting over the corner is wobbly" or "tilting to the diagonal sides feels strange".

Participants preferred tilting over the sides, rather than the corners

#### 4.7 Discussion and Implications

Overall, Tilt-Watch was well-received by the participants. When looking at the requirements regarding the interaction design of Tilt-Watch, there are several things we learned from the study.

#### Haptic feedback can improve the interaction.

Several participants praised the haptic feedback of Tilt-Watch. This is despite the fact that we only used haptic feedback in addition to visual feedback to inform the user that the dwell-time has been reached. This singals that the sample has been taken and the user can release the smartwatch. In a future version of Tilt-Watch, we imagine haptic feedback dependant on the current inclination value.

#### Tilt-Watch does not measure inclination.

It is important, to note what exactly Tilt-Watch measures. Figure 4.2 shows data for both, the inclination measured by the gyroscope and the inclination calculated by Tilt-Watch. One can see, that the boxes do not line up perfectly. This is because both sensor types measure different physical properties. The gyroscope measures inclination in relation to the earth face. Tilt-Watch measures the distance towards the arm and thereby calculates the inclination in relation to the arm. This brings disadvantages and advantages. On the one hand, Tilt-Watch will produce slightly different data for the same physical inclination, because humans have arms in different shapes and differently pronounced wrist bones. On the other hand, it creates new opportunities. Since Tilt-Watch is independent of the inclination in relation to the earth face, the inclination value can be used for interaction no matter of the position or orientation of the arm. This can be helpfull during movement, when the inclination in relation to the earth face permanently changes.

#### The two-dimensional inclination value is biased.

Another observation we made during the data analysis process is that the arrangement of the rangefinders influences the calculated inclination. Going back to Figure 4.2, we noticed, that while the boxes for vertical and horizontal inclination do match to some extent, the ones for diagonal inclination are consistently lower for Tilt-Watch. We suggest, that this is because of the sensor arrangement and the way we calculate the inclination. When tilting vertical or hotizontal, there are always two sensors measuring the inclination at the same time. When tilting diagonal, e.g. to the top left, there is only one sensor at every step, that influences the inclination reported by Tilt-Watch. Because our algorithm is the same for both diagonal and straight



Gyroscope measures inclination (blue), Tilt-Watch calculates inclination in relation to the arm (green)

Due to sensor bias, diagonal inclination was consistently lower inclinations, having one less sensor decreases the precision of the calculated inclination.

#### 4.8 Limitations

During the study, we found that using the Apple Watch in the prototype comes with caveats. Two participants found, that when tilting the watch strongly, it turns off its display. This is because the accelerometer of the Apple Watch is used to check if a user is currently looking at the smartwatch. The smartwatch concludes that after this positional change, the user cannot still be looking at the screen and thus the screen can be turned off. Unfortunately, this function cannot be disabled. The effect does not directly influence Tilt-Watch per se, because the sensors work independent of the Apple Watch, but it does limit the interaction for inclinations of high degree, because visual feedback cannot be provided. Also, the Apple Watch will turn off its display, if the display is not touched for 70 seconds. For the study, we solved this by displaying a button every 60 seconds.

Prior to the study, we found that when tilting the smartwatch left or right, people grab Tilt-Watch on the sides, where the side button and the digital crown are positioned. Thereupon, we designed and printed a new case which protudes the buttons on the right side of the Apple Watch. Unfortunately, during the study, one participant mentioned that she had to adjust his grip while tilting, because she pressed the side button on the Apple Watch. The side button shows recently used applications, thus triggering it interrupts the study.

Another limitation that has to be noted, is the small sample size of the study. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic it was only possible to do the study with ten participants, because it was subsequently forbidden to meet people from another household. Apple Watch turns off its display when tilting strongly

One participant accidentally pressed a button on the Apple Watch

We could only test ten participants

### Chapter 5

# Preliminary Investigation: Performance During Movement

In Section 3.1.1 "Sensor Selection", we explained that we decided against using an IMU to detect the inclination, in order to be more robust against movement. The following chapter will present a small excursus into the performance of Tilt-Watch during movement. For this, we will first present the task we completed to evaluate the performance and then discuss results and limitations.

To investigate the performance during movement we would have liked to conduct a study, similar to the study presented in the previous chapter. Unfortunately it was prohibited to meet people of another household at that time in the course of the preparation of this thesis, at which this investigation should take place. Thus, it was only possible to examine the performance during movement of myself, because nobody else was in possession of a Tilt-Watch prototype. Therefore, any results presented in this chapter must be taken with a grain of salt.

Standing	Тор	Right	Down	Left	Mean
Gyroscope	1.7	2.3	2.1	2.1	2.1
Tilt-Watch	2.1	2.7	2.6	1.9	2.3
MOVING	Тор	Right	Down	Left	Mean
Gyroscope	3.3	4.1	5.2	3.8	4.1
Tilt-Watch	3.4	2.9	4.0	3.7	3.5

**Table 5.1:** Spreading per direction in degrees for STAND-ING and MOVING conditions. When MOVING, the datapoints of the gyroscope are more spread than the ones that are recorded by Tilt-Watch.

#### 5.1 Measurements

For the investigation of performance during movement, the same tasks were repeated, that participants had done earlier while sitting. This time, the following two movement conditions were added. In the STANDING condition the 80 tilt trials were done standing still, holding both arms in front of the body. In the MOVING condition figures eight were walked inside. Walking in figure eight simulated splitting the cognitive load between walking and interacting with Tilt-Watch. Similar to the study investigating maximum inclination, we recorded data from the gyroscope and from Tilt-Watch.

To determine the performance during movement, we analyzed the average spread per direction. For this, we calculated the standard deviation of the points where the dwelltime was reached for every direction, respectively.

#### 5.2 Results

Average spread per direction went up less for Tilt-Watch than for gyroscope Table 5.1 lists the spreading for the four cardinal directions for both movement conditions. For STANDING, the average spreading reported by the gyroscope was 2.1 degrees and for Tilt-Watch 2.3 degrees. When MOVING, the average spread per direction went up to 4.1 degrees for the gyro-

We repeated the previous study with two movement conditions scope and 3.5 for Tilt-Watch. So for the MOVING condition the average spread went up nearly 200% for the gyroscope, but only 152% for Tilt-Watch.

#### 5.3 Discussion

We set out to improve on using an IMU to detect the inclination and decided to measure the distance towards the arm. We suggest, that the presented difference in spreading for the MOVING condition can be reasoned by the way Tilt-Watch works. The measurement is based on very local conditions. The distance towards the arm is measured, no matter in which orientation relative to the earth's surface Tilt-Watch is. Hence, the moving and turning of the arm during movement has no direct impact on the measurement.

Because the data was only generated with one participant we do not suggest, that the results can be generalized. We propose that similar to when stationary, in motion, Tilt-Watch has different applications than the gyroscope. Thus, calculating the inclination with the distance towards the arm could be advantageous in some situation. In future user studies, one could also study the accuracy during movement of Tilt-Watch versus the gyroscope. Section **7**.3.2 "Future User Studies" goes into detail on which user studies we plan on doing next.

Performance during movement has to be studied in the future

## **Chapter 6**

# Tilt-Watch Interaction Design

Interaction design describes the process of creating a physical product and exploring the ways a user might interact with it [Preece et al.] [2015]. The following chapter contains a detailed description of the interaction design we propose with Tilt-Watch and studied for this thesis. Also, we describe potential applications of Tilt-Watch and present demonstrator applications we implemented to explore the interaction.

#### 6.1 Inclination-Based Smartwatch Input

Tilt-Watch is able to detect two-dimensional inclination in relation to the forearm. The inclination is manipulated with the opposite side hand. This means, Tilt-Watch enables two-dimensional continuous input, while still providing unrestricted visibility of the screen.

Figure 6.1a shows a visual representation of the twodimensional value, representing the inclination of Tilt-Watch. In the picture, the prototype is tilted to the top right side. The length of the red line represents the extent of the inclination. Tilt-Watch detects two-dimensional inclination in relation to the forearm



**Figure 6.1:** (a) Graph view of inclination to the top right. The length of the red line represents the extent of the inclination. (b) Balancing game on Tilt-Watch. The gravity of the game is changed by the inclination. (c) 3D viewer application running on iPhone. Tilting the smartwatch manipulates the viewing direction.

The interaction makes use of the gravity metaphor, but does not rely on gravity, because it measures the distance towards the arm and thereby the inclination in relation to the forearm. Weberg et al. [2001] explained the usage of a device's inclination as input, by comparing it to sliding a stick of butter in a hot pan. The following section provides more examples of the interaction.

#### 6.2 Tilt-Watch Applications

To illustrate the potential of Tilt-Watch, we present three applications to explain the use-cases of the presented interaction technique. The applications are inspired by the ones described by Rekimoto [1996], who presented the first mobile-device prototype with inclination-based input. Rekimoto [1996] implemented one-dimensional menu selection tasks, a two-dimensional map browser as well as a three-dimensional object viewer.

#### **One-Dimensional Direct Input**

There are use-cases (e.g. scrolling), that require only a single degree of freedom. In this case, only one of the two dimensions is used and the other one is discarded. With this, the inclination of Tilt-Watch could be used to implement an alternative to existing scrolling solutions.

#### **Two-Dimensional Direct Input**

Navigation of planar content like a map requires twodimensional panning. Tilt-Watch can enable the manipulation of the viewport by tilting the smartwatch, i.e. tilting the smartwatch to the top pans the viewport to the top. Users can vary the speed by decreasing or increasing the inclination. Based on this input technique, we implemented a two-dimensional balancing game where you have to navigate a marble through a maze (Figure 6.1b). With this, we were able to test a wide range of tilt-sequences and were able to experiment with two-dimensional direct input.

#### **Two-Dimensional Indirect Input**

With the aid of user feedback gathered during the study (see Section 4 "Study: Maximum Degree of Inclination"), we found that participants wanted to control more, than just onscreen content. One participant imagined controlling an two-dimensional industrial crane at a production site by tilting the smartwatch on his arm. To illustrate using Tilt-Watch as a remote controller we implemented an application, that displays a 3D model on an iPhone that can be controlled with Tilt-Watch (Figure 6.1c). Tilting the smartwatch directly manipulates the viewing direction of the object.

## Chapter 7

## Summary and Future Work

The last chapter concludes the thesis in three parts. First, the limitations are presented and discussed. After that, we give a summary and list the contributions of our findings. The last section describes the variety of future work that can build onto this thesis.

#### 7.1 Limitations of Tilt-Watch

When investigating how Tilt-Watch performed during movement, we found that direct sunlight disturbs the rangefinders. In Section 3.1.2 "How Tilt-Watch Measures Inclinaton", we explained that the rangefinder measures the intensity of the reflected infrared light. To be precise, the QRE1113 from ON Semiconductor used in Tilt-Watch emits light with a peak wavelength of 940 nm. On the other hand, the spectrum of sunlight spans a range of 100 nm to about 1.000.000 nm. Thus, the photo-electric diode of the rangefinder cannot distinguish between infrared light emitted by its own LED or infrared light emitted by the sun. We expected this effect when exploring sensors but still decided to continue with infrared-based sensors. This was

Direct sunlight disturbs the sensors

because they were already used in other research projects and based on our findings these sensors were the best fit for fast prototyping.

As explained in Section 4.8 "Limitations" the study could only be conducted with ten participants. Additionally, during the study we found that using the Apple Watch limits the range of inclination, where Tilt-Watch can provide feedback. This is because the display is turned off when the Apple Watch is tilted strongly. In the section we also explained that the button placement on the Apple Watch made one participant adjust his grip, in order to prevent accidental activation.

#### 7.2 Summary and Contributions

This thesis investigated a novel input technique for smartwatches that enables two-dimensional continuous input without occluding the screen. With Tilt-Watch we built a prototype containing nine rangefinders to measure the distance towards the arm. With these sensors, we calculate the inclination of the smartwatch originating from its resting position.

Important work on inclination-based input on mobile devices was presented by Rekimoto [1996], according to which inclination-based input can be precise and expressive. Götzelmann and Vázquez [2015] investigated inclination-based input on smartwatches with the goal to improve keyboard input on smartwatches and found the interaction to be intuitive and fast to learn.

The presented implementation of inclination-based input on smartwatches has not been explored already. Therefore, we conducted an initial user study to explore to which degree people comfortably tilt smartwatches. We found that on average people tilted the smartwatch to 25 degrees and preferred tilting over the sides, rather than the corners. Also, the maximum comfortable inclination differed widely for different users, thus the algorithm computing the inclination has to be adapted to a specific user. This can be

Tilt-Watch enables two-dimensional continuous input

Inclination-based input can be precise and intuitive

We found that on average, people tilt the smartwatch to 25 degrees done by a calibration step or by a learning algorithm, which adapts the appropriate parameters automatically by monitoring the users use of this input modality. Feedback in the study concerning the input modality was generally positive and users imagined applications like skipping a song or manipulating the viewport of a map.

Additionally, we implemented different applications that demonstrate the technical capabilities of Tilt-Watch. In the study, several people were reminded of the marble balancing game where you have to navigate a marble through a maze by turning two knobs that control the inclination of the platform. Therefore, we implemented a balancing game that is controlled by tilting the smartwatch on the arm. Also, we implemented a 3D viewer application that supports indirect input to manipulate the viewing direction by using Tilt-Watch as a remote controller. Both sample applications showed that inclination based input relativ to the forearm can be valuable to be incorporated in future smartwatches.

#### 7.3 Future Work

This concluding section presents future work, divided into three categories. First, technical improvements to the Tilt-Watch protoype are presented. After this, we list a range of user studies we propose to deepen the understanding of the proposed interaction. Lastly, we present further interaction possibilities which we did not investigate for the thesis but found during working on it.

#### 7.3.1 Improving the Prototype

As explained earlier in Chapter 7.1 "Limitations of Tilt-Watch", Tilt-Watch breaks when direct sunlight shines onto the wrist. This limitation could be solved by using different sensor types. We think that vertical-cavity surface- emitting lasers are best suited for this application. These sensors are not based on measuring the intensity of the reflected light,

Using VCSELs makes Tilt-Watch robust against sunlight

We implemented two demonstrator applications

but on the duration light beams travel towards and object and back to the sensor. Thus, these will not be influenced by sunlight.

Tilt-Watch body is<br/>very rectangularAllthough Tilt-Watch was designed to be as small as possi-<br/>ble, its body can still be improved. One study participant<br/>noted that Tilt-Watch is so much more angular than a<br/>regular Apple Watch, to a point where it was easier to use<br/>Tilt-Watch. When we asked participants to reason the ease<br/>of tilt, some mentioned that the corners of the prototype<br/>pressed into the skin, when tilting diagonally. This can be

attributed to the way, we designed the Tilt-Watch case to be printed. Future studies could investigate if the form factor influences the way people grab the smartwatch.

#### 7.3.2 Future User Studies

After finishing the current prototype, we discussed which aspects of the interaction we wanted to study in detail. We found that before studying the inclination accuracy or the performance compared to other input modalities, we needed to understand the basis of the interaction: What is the inclination range we can expect users to use comfortable? This is why we decided to study the maximum degree of comfortable inclination first (see Chapter 4 "Study: Maximum Degree of Inclination").

We planned on investigating the inclination accuracy next. <u>Rekimoto</u> [1996] found that users were able to control the inclination of a handheld mobile device with an accuracy of only 2 degree, provided that visual feedback was displayed. The accuracy could also be determined in two ways: On the one hand, one could investigate only onedimensional accuracy with selection tasks on vertical or horizontal lists. On the other hand, one could also evaluate accuracy in a two-dimensional selection task like a grid. In selection tasks like these, the independent variable is the number of targets. When there are more targets, the targets are smaller and thus more accuracy is needed.

Investigating inclination accuracy is the next step Another factor that could be tested in the study is the effect of feedback on accuracy. Rekimoto [1996] already emphasized the importance of visual feedback for inclination accuracy. Today, haptic engines are built into every smartwatch by default, and it was shown that users can even distinguish different types of haptic stimuli on their wrist [Pasquero et al., 2011]. Including haptic feedback in addition to, or instead of visual feedback could improve the inclination accuracy.

In addition to the feedback type, movement is expected to have an effect on accuracy, too. In Chapter 5 "Preliminary Investigation: Performance During Movement", we presented a small excursus into the topic, but a future user study has to be conducted.

Finally, we imagine comparing inclination-based input to other input modalities of smartwatches. To study this, users would do the same task with different input modalities: Touchscreen input, rotating bezel input, rotating crown input and inclination-based input.

#### 7.3.3 Further Interaction Possibilities

After spending more than six months on the topic and having built several prototypes, we still found new ideas that Tilt-Watch could enable even with the current prototype.

Tilt-Watch should be able to detect whether the whole smartwatch is hoisted away from the wrist. This is possible, when pinching the watchband and pressing it beneath the smartwatch with the thumb and the index finger. The prototype could detect this, when the five sensors in the center of Tilt-Watch first raised approximately the same rate and suddenly reach their maximum at a similar time. The outer four sensors could detect reflections from the watchband.

Until now only the absolute, two-dimensional inclination value was used for classification of movements. In addition to the absolute value, one could also take into account the gradient of consecutive values, i.e. the rotational speed. The use of haptic feedback could be explored

Performance during movement could be explored

Tilt-Watch should be tested against touchscreen input or rotating crown input Calculating the rotational speed could enable implementing brief tilt gestures Because Tilt-Watch only publishes values every 100 ms, this should be calculated on the ESP32 itself, in order for it to be more precise. We imagine that calculating the rotational speed would make it easy to implement brief tilt gestures like flicking the watch and thereby tilting it to the right side and then immediately releasing it again. An interaction like this would take less than one second and could be implemented in addition to the current interaction.

New sensors built into smart devices constantly enable new interaction capabilities that current research does not cover. The technology incorporated in Tilt-Watch enables expressive input on smartwatches with the potential to be part of the interaction with smartwatches in the future.

## Appendix A

# **User Study Questionaire**

This appendix contains both pages of the user study questionnaire. Figure A.1 depicts the first page, which was administered before the experiment. Figure A.2 depicts the second page investigating the ease of tilt and was filled out by participants after the experiment.

Tilt-Watch Questionnaire Stud	iy 1				
1. Gender: o male o f	female o di	iverse			
2. Age:					
3. Handedness: o left-hand	ded orig	ht-handed			
4. On which wrist do you wear	<b>r watches?</b> ○ lef	it o	right		
5. Do you use Smartwatches?	• ve	S O	no		
If yes: 5.1 Which model?					
5.2 How often do you w	vear the Smartw	atch?			
6. Please measure your wrist	circumference v	with the prov	vided measur	ing tape:	
6. Please measure your wrist	circumference v	with the prov	vided measur	ing tape:	
<ol> <li>6. Please measure your wrist</li> <li>7. Mark in which hole of the bill</li> </ol>	circumference v racelet the buck	with the provide is inserte 6  7  8 $\bullet  \bullet  \bullet$	vided measur d: 9 10 11 12 ● ● ● ● ●	ing tape:	
<ul> <li>6. Please measure your wrist</li> <li>7. Mark in which hole of the brack</li> </ul>	circumference v racelet the buck	vith the prov de is inserte	vided measur d: 9 10 11 12	ing tape:	
6. Please measure your wrist 7. Mark in which hole of the bi	circumference v racelet the buck	vith the prov de is inserte	/ided measur d: ● 10 11 12	ing tape:	
6. Please measure your wrist 7. Mark in which hole of the br	circumference w racelet the buck	vith the prov	vided measur d: 9 10 11 12	ing tape:	
6. Please measure your wrist 7. Mark in which hole of the br	circumference v racelet the buck	vith the prov	vided measur d: 9 10 11 12	ing tape:	
6. Please measure your wrist 7. Mark in which hole of the br	circumference v racelet the buck	vith the prov	/ided measur d: 9 10 11 12	ing tape:	

**Figure A.1:** First page of the questionnaire answered before doing the experiment



Figure A.2: Second page of the questionnaire answered after doing the experiment
## Appendix **B**

## Apple Watch Usage Guide

This appendix contains the Apple Watch usage guide for the study. The page was printed out in order to ensure trouble-free operation despite COVID-19 safety distance and enabled the participants to operate the Apple Watch on their own.



**Figure B.1:** Apple Watch usage guide for the study to ensure trouble-free operation despite COVID-19 safety distance

## Bibliography

- Sunggeun Ahn, Seongkook Heo, and Geehyuk Lee. Typing on a Smartwatch for Smart Glasses. In Proceedings of the Interactive Surfaces and Spaces - ISS '17, pages 201–209, Brighton, United Kingdom, 2017. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-4691-7. doi: 10.1145/3132272. 3134136. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=3132272.3134136.
- Youngseok Ahn, Sungjae Hwang, HyunGook Yoon, Junghyeon Gim, and Jung-hee Ryu. BandSense: Pressure-Sensitive Multitouch Interaction on a Wristband. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI EA '15*, pages 251–254, Seoul, Republic of Korea, 2015. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3146-3. doi: 10.1145/2702613.2725441. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=2702613.2725441.
- Shaikh Shawon Arefin Shimon, Courtney Lutton, Zichun Xu, Sarah Morrison-Smith, Christina Boucher, and Jaime Ruiz. Exploring Non-Touchscreen Gestures for Smartwatches. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI'16*, pages 3822–3833, San Jose, California USA, 2016. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3362-7. doi: 10.1145/2858036. 2858385. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2858036.2858036.2858385.
- Daniel Bachfeld. Die IoT-Alleskönner: ESP32 und ESP8266. Make: Heise Magazine, 6/2019:8–11, June 2019. URL https://www.heise.de/select/make/ 2019/6/1577220628743436.

Patrick Baudisch and Gerry Chu. Back-of-Device In-

teraction Allows Creating Very Small Touch Devices. In *Proceedings of the 27th international conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI 09,* pages 1923–1933, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, 2009. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-60558-246-7. doi: 10.1145/1518701. 1518995. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=1518701.1518995.

- Stephanie Hui-Wen Chuah, Philipp A. Rauschnabel, Nina Krey, Bang Nguyen, Thurasamy Ramayah, and Shwetak Lade. Wearable Technologies: The Role of Usefulness and Visibility in Smartwatch Adoption. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 65:276–284, December 2016. ISSN 0747-5632. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.07.047. URL http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0747563216305374.
- Jaemin Chun, Anind Dey, Kyungtaek Lee, and SeungJun Kim. A Qualitative Study of Smartwatch Usage and its Usability. Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries - HFE'18, 28(4): 186–199, 2018. ISSN 1520-6564. doi: 10.1002/hfm. 20733. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/abs/10.1002/hfm.20733.
- Artem Dementyev and Joseph A. Paradiso. WristFlex: Low-Power Gesture Input With Wrist-Worn Pressure Sensors. In Proceedings of the 27th annual ACM symposium on User Interface Software and Technology - UIST'14, pages 161–166, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, October 2014. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3069-5. doi: 10.1145/2642918. 2647396. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/ 2642918.2647396.
- Espressif Systems. ESP-IDF documentation ESP32, December 2020. URL https://docs.espressif.com/ projects/esp-idf/en/latest/esp32/.
- Jun Gong, Xing-Dong Yang, and Pourang Irani. Wrist-Whirl: One-handed Continuous Smartwatch Input using Wrist Gestures. In Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology - UIST '16, pages 861–872, Tokyo, Japan, October 2016. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-4189-9. doi: 10.1145/2984511.

2984563. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/ 2984511.2984563.

- Timo Götzelmann and Pere-Pau Vázquez. InclineType: An Accelerometer-based Typing Approach for Smartwatches. In Proceedings of the XVI International Conference on Human Computer Interaction - Interacción '15, pages 1–4, Vilanova i la Geltrú, Spain, 2015. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3463-1. doi: 10.1145/2829875. 2829929. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=2829875.2829929.
- Ken Hinckley and Hyunyoung Song. Sensor Synaesthesia: Touch in Motion, and Motion in Touch. In Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '11, page 801, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 2011. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-0228-9. doi: 10.1145/1978942.1979059. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=1978942.1979059.
- Keiko Katsuragawa, James R. Wallace, and Edward Lank. Gestural Text Input Using a Smartwatch. In Proceedings of the International Working Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces - AVI '16, pages 220–223, Bari, Italy, 2016. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-4131-8. doi: 10.1145/2909132. 2909273. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=2909132.2909273.
- Jungsoo Kim, Jiasheng He, Kent Lyons, and Thad Starner. The Gesture Watch: A Wireless Contact-free Gesture based Wrist Interface. In 11th IEEE International Symposium on Wearable Computers - ISWC'07, pages 1–8, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, October 2007. IEEE. ISBN 978-1-4244-1452-9 978-1-4244-1453-6. doi: 10.1109/ISWC. 2007.4373770. URL http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/4373770/.
- Konstantin Klamka, Tom Horak, and Raimund Dachselt.
  Watch+Strap: Extending Smartwatches with Interactive StrapDisplays. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI'20*, pages 1–15, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, April 2020. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-6708-0. doi: 10.1145/3313831.
  3376199. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/
  3313831.3376199.

- Neil Kolban. nkolban/ESP32\_ble\_arduino, December 2020. URL https://github.com/nkolban/ESP32\_ BLE\_Arduino.
- Meethu Malu, Pramod Chundury, and Leah Findlater. Motor Accessibility of Smartwatch Touch and Bezel Input. In *The 21st International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*, pages 563–565, Pittsburgh PA USA, October 2019. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-6676-2. doi: 10.1145/3308561.3354638. URL https://dl.acm. org/doi/10.1145/3308561.3354638.
- Florian Müller, Sebastian Günther, Niloofar Dezfuli, Mohammadreza Khalilbeigi, and Max Mühlhäuser. ProxiWatch: Enhancing Smartwatch Interaction through Proximity-based Hand Input. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI EA '16, pages 2617–2624, San Jose, California, USA, 2016. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-4082-3. doi: 10.1145/2851581. 2892450. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=2851581.2892450.
- Tao Ni and Patrick Baudisch. Disappearing mobile devices. In *Proceedings of the 22nd annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, UIST '09, pages 101–110, New York, USA, October 2009. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 978-1-60558-745-5. doi: 10.1145/1622176.1622197. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1622176.1622197.
- I. Oakley and S. O'Modhrain. Tilt to Scroll: Evaluating a Motion Based Vibrotactile Mobile Interface. In *First Joint Eurohaptics Conference and Symposium on Haptic Interfaces for Virtual Environment and Teleoperator Systems*, pages 40– 49, Pisa, Italy, 2005. IEEE. ISBN 978-0-7695-2310-1. doi: 10.1109/WHC.2005.138. URL http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/1406912/.
- Ian Oakley and Doyoung Lee. Interaction on the edge: offset sensing for small devices. In Proceedings of the 32nd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '14, pages 169–178, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 2014. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-2473-1. doi:

10.1145/2556288.2557138. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=2556288.2557138.

- Masa Ogata and Michita Imai. SkinWatch: Skin Gesture Interaction for Smart Watch. In *Proceedings of the 6th Augmented Human International Conference on* -*AH* '15, pages 21–24, Singapore, Singapore, 2015. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3349-8. doi: 10.1145/2735711. 2735830. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=2735711.2735830.
- Masa Ogata, Yuta Sugiura, Hirotaka Osawa, and Michita Imai. iRing: Intelligent Ring Using Infrared Reflection. In Proceedings of the 25th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '12, page 131, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA, 2012. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-1580-7. doi: 10.1145/2380116. 2380135. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=2380116.2380135.
- Masa Ogata, Yuta Sugiura, Yasutoshi Makino, Masahiko Inami, and Michita Imai. SenSkin: Adapting Skin as a Soft Interface. In *Proceedings of the 26th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST* '13, pages 539–544, St. Andrews, Scotland, United Kingdom, 2013. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-2268-3. doi: 10.1145/2501988.2502039. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=2501988.2502039.
- Antti Oulasvirta, Sakari Tamminen, Virpi Roto, and Jaana Kuorelahti. Interaction in 4-Second Bursts: The Fragmented Nature of Attentional Resources in Mobile HCI. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '05, pages 919–928, New York, New York, USA, April 2005. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 978-1-58113-998-3. doi: 10.1145/1054972.1055101. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/1054972.1055101.
- Jerome Pasquero, Scott J. Stobbe, and Noel Stonehouse. A Haptic Wristwatch For Eyes-Free Interactions. In Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '11, page 3257, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 2011. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-0228-9. doi: 10.1145/1978942.

1979425. URL http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? doid=1978942.1979425.

- Jennifer Preece, Helen Sharp, and Yvonne Rogers. Interaction Design: Beyond Human-Computer Interaction, 5th Edition. John Wiley & Sons, May 2015. ISBN 978-1-119-02075-2. URL https: //www.wiley.com/en-us/Interaction+Design% 3A+Beyond+Human+Computer+Interaction%2C+ 5th+Edition-p-9781119547259.
- Jun Rekimoto. Tilting Operations for Small Screen Interfaces. In Proceedings of the 9th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology, UIST '96, pages 167– 168, New York, New York, USA, November 1996. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 978-0-89791-798-8. doi: 10.1145/237091.237115. URL https://doi.org/ 10.1145/237091.237115.
- Jun Rekimoto. GestureWrist and GesturePad: Unobtrusive Wearable Interaction Devices. In Proceedings Fifth International Symposium on Wearable Computers -ISWC'01, pages 21–27, October 2001. doi: 10.1109/ISWC. 2001.962092. URL https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/962092.
- Léa Saviot, Frederik Brudy, and Steven Houben. WRIST-BAND.IO: Expanding Input and Output Spaces of a Smartwatch. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems – CHI EA'17*, pages 2025–2033, New York, USA, May 2017. ACM Press. doi: 10.1145/3027063.3053132. URL https: //eprints.lancs.ac.uk/id/eprint/85600/.
- Maximilian Schrapel, Florian Herzog, Steffen Ryll, and Michael Rohs. Watch my Painting: The Back of the Hand as a Drawing Space for Smartwatches. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI'20*, pages 1–10, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, April 2020. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-6819-3. doi: 10.1145/3334480.3383040. URL https://dl.acm. org/doi/10.1145/3334480.3383040.
- Katie A. Siek, Yvonne Rogers, and Kay H. Connelly. Fat Finger Worries: How Older and Younger Users Phys-

ically Interact with PDAs. In Maria Francesca Costabile and Fabio Paternò, editors, *Human-Computer Interaction - INTERACT 2005*, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 267–280, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005. Springer. ISBN 978-3-540-31722-7. doi: 10.1007/11555261\_24. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/11555261\_24.

- Gaganpreet Singh, William Delamare, and Pourang Irani. D-SWIME: A Design Space for Smartwatch Interaction Techniques Supporting Mobility and Encumbrance. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '18*, pages 1–13, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, 2018. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-5620-6. doi: 10.1145/3173574.3174208. URL http://dl.acm. org/citation.cfm?doid=3173574.3174208.
- T. E. Starner. The Role of Speech Input in Wearable Computing. IEEE Pervasive Computing, 1(3):89–93, July 2002. ISSN 1558-2590. doi: 10.1109/MPRV.2002. 1037727. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1109/ MPRV.2002.1037727.
- Colton J. Turner, Barbara S. Chaparro, and Jibo He. Typing on a Smartwatch While Mobile: A Comparison of Input Methods. *Hum Factors*, page 0018720819891291, February 2020. ISSN 0018-7208. doi: 10.1177/0018720819891291. URL https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0018720819891291.
- Aku Visuri, Zhanna Sarsenbayeva, Niels van Berkel, Jorge Goncalves, Reza Rawassizadeh, Vassilis Kostakos, and Denzil Ferreira. Quantifying Sources and Types of Smartwatch Usage Sessions. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '17, pages 3569–3581, New York, New York, USA, May 2017. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 978-1-4503-4655-9. doi: 10.1145/3025453.3025817. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3025453.3025817.
- Lars Weberg, Torbjörn Brange, and Åsa Wendelbo Hansson. A piece of butter on the PDA display. In CHI '01 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '01, page 435, Seattle, Washington, 2001. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-58113-340-0. doi: 10.1145/634067.

634320. URL http://portal.acm.org/citation. cfm?doid=634067.634320

- Anusha Withana, Roshan Peiris, Nipuna Samarasekara, and Suranga Nanayakkara. zSense: Enabling Shallow Depth Gesture Recognition for Greater Input Expressivity on Smart Wearables. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '15*, pages 3661–3670, Seoul, Republic of Korea, 2015. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-3145-6. doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702371. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=2702123.2702371.
- Robert Xiao, Gierad Laput, and Chris Harrison. Expanding the Input Expressivity of Smartwatches With Mechanical Pan, Twist, Tilt and Click. In *Proceedings of the 32nd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '14*, pages 193–196, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, 2014. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-4503-2473-1. doi: 10.1145/2556288.2557017. URL http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?doid=2556288.2557017.
- Hui-Shyong Yeo, Juyoung Lee, Andrea Bianchi, and Aaron Quigley. WatchMI: Pressure Touch, Twist and Pan Gesture Input on uUmodified Smartwatches. In Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services, pages 394–399, Florence Italy, September 2016. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-4408-1. doi: 10.1145/2935334.2935375. URL https: //dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/2935334.2935375.

## Index

Bluetooth, 15

dwell-time, 28

ESP32, 16 experimental design, 25

fat finger problem, 6 force sensing resistor (FSR), 13

inclination-based smartwatch input, 39 interaction design, 39 intertial measurement unit (IMU), 11

Linux Watch, 12

performance during movement, 35 photo-reflective rangefinder, 14 Proof of concept, 16 Pull-up Resistor, 17

smartwatch, 1 study discussion, 31 study limitations, 33 study procedure, 26

Tilt-Watch, <u>39</u> Tilt-Watch applications, <u>40</u>

ultrasonic distance sensor, 13

vertical-cavity surface-emitting laser (VCSEL), 14

Typeset January 18, 2021